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THE NEW YORK TIMES, 

: ITranscri t of Ford's Testimony 
Following is a transcript of the pro- I 

-ccedings before the Rouse Judiciary ' 
CoMmittee's Subcommittee on Crim-

' inal Justice in Washington yesterday, 
'at' which President Ford testified, as 

:reedrded.bY The New York Titnea. 
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Rep. William L. Hungate 
-The Subcommittee on Criminal Jus- 

• tice of the RouseCommittee on the Ju-
dioiarx today welcomes, the President of 

• the United-Atates,-Czerald R. Ford. 
We appreciate,your willingness volun-

tarily to appear to respond to the ques-
t tons paSectin two privileged resolutions 
.:in inquiry and to accept inquiries from 
..the subconirnittee ash l carries out the 
.responsibilitieSassigneld it by the House 
of 'Representatives. This is, perhaps, the 
first documented,appearance of a Presi-
dent o the United States before a corn-
_rnittee:Or subcommittee of the United 
-States. Corigreis. 

'I■16wythe chair understands, Mr. Pies- 
. ident, that you have a commitment at 

'noon and the House convenes at 11:30 
A.M. today. With these constraints of 
time in mind we shall proceed as quick-
ly as:possible to accomplish as much as 
:we can in the available time. 

.The- questioning will be done • by sub-
committee members only and under the 
five-minute rule. • 

President, Ford's appearance demon- 
, strates his commitment to be open and 

candid • with the American people. It 
_is absolutely vital for the restoration 
of the public trust and their governing 
institutions and elected officials that 
frankness be the hallmark of this and 
future: administrations. 

The newspaper Le Monde-in Paris re-
cently wrote, "No Eurcipean republic in-
vests its President with the right of par-
don as sweeping and irrevocable as that 
which Gerald Ford exercised in favor of 
Richard Nixon. In a: sense, the royal 
pardon take over from executive privi-
lege behind which the former President 
took -refuge so long as a way of pre-
venting Congress and :the law courts 
from investigating his. conduct." • 

Since Sept. 8 when President Ford is-
:sued a full, free and absolute Pardon to 
former Ptesident,Nixen for all crimes he 
.committed or may have committed while 
Serving as PreSident of the United States, 
several questions have been raised relat-
ing to the circumstances -and surround-
ing the pardon and whether as a result 
Of the pardon 'and. subsequent agree-
nients entered into by the former Presi-
dent and' officialS of the executive branch 
Whether ' the full sand complete' story 
of Watergate and related activities will 
ever be known. • • . 

.Bills and Resolutions 
In an attempt to resolve these ques-

tions, more than 70 'members of the 
.House of "Representatives„ Republicans 
and beniocrats alike, have sponsored 
bills and resolutions seeking to uncover 
the full story of the pardon and Water-
gate. These several bills and resolutions 
are currently pending' before the sub-
committee. Included among the 23 bills 
and resolutions pending before the sub-
committee are the two privileged resolu-
tions of inquiry considered today. One, 
House.  Resolution 1367, introduced by 

,Representative Abzug of.  New York, and 
.the second, House Reselution 1370, in-
troduced by Representativ.e Conyers of 
Michigan. Therules of the House of Rep-
resentatives require prompt committee 
Action on privileged resolutions of in-
quiry. 

Cepies' of the privileged resolutions  

were 'forwarded to the President, re- 
questing a response and, following ex- 
Change of •Correspondence, the Presi- 

• dent Offered to appear here as he volun-
tarily does today. 

The task we'undertake is made easier 
by the perSorial friendship and common 
background we share in the Congrest. 
Mit to' faithfully perform our respective 
tasks we must, insofar as possible, lay 
aside personal relationships and con-
siderations. 

We are not here because of friendship 
but ,because of respOnsibility our gov-
ernmental system of checks and hal-

! ances and separation of powers places 
upon us to seek and reveal the- truth 
to.,the American people about the work-
ing. of their Government by cooperation 
if ripssg3.1e; by • ,confrontation when 
necessary..  
.4 hOpe the. American people as well 

as:the Congress appreciate the im-
portance of President Ford's appear-
aride, as well as the need to do all 
we can to resolve the questions relat-
in_g to the pardon of fernier. President 
Nixon. 
: Tam, convinced the issue of the par-
don, will net be behind Us. until that 
record is ,coniplete.- 	. 	, 
. The chair recognizes .Chairman 

• ' ding from. New Jersey. 

.Repi..Peter W. Rodmo Jr. 
•Mr. president, as chairman of the 

Conimittee on the judibiarY, I want to 
welcome you here, not only as the Chief 
Executive of this great country but as 
a friend and one who served with all of 
usfor many years. 
- This historic occasionu and your vol-
untary appearance here only demon-
strates once more the great institution 
that 'iva are both proud to be part of. 
And I -know that your effort in coming 
before this committee Voluntarily will 
assist this subcommittee, and this Com-
mittee on the Judiciary, in meeting its 
important responsibilities. 
-_ 

 
Now' with that, Mr. President, I'm go-

ing to relinquish the responsibility to the 
chairman of this subcommittee and to 
the. members ,of the subcommittee who 
will- direct inquiries -to you. Thank• you 
fa; coming here. 

--The chair recognizes 
the gentleman from. Michigan, Mr. Hutch- 

p. Ed:Ward Hutchinson 
Thank you Mr. Chairman. 

President, the chairman of the 
1,tidiciary Committee, Mr: Rodino, and 

-as ranking minority Member, are ex 
offiCio Members of 'this subcommittee. 
But we appear here this morning only 
in that Capacity, Sitting at the foot of 
the Subaerrimittee on our respective 
Sides rather than in' Our familiar places 
at 'its head:" 	 • 

'Ih this arrangeinent, Mr. Rodino does 
not displace the chairrnan of the sub-
crenimittee; Mr. Hungatb, nor do I 
displace-Mr. Smith of New York as 

ranking minority member of that sub-
committee. 

Ohairman Rodino and I early agreed 
that, we will not participate in question-
ing our distinguished visitor this morn-
ing, leaving that function to the mem-
bers of the subcommittee regularly ap-
pointed. 

Our participation will -be limited to 
our- opening statements. Other members 
of the Judiciary Committee, the full 
Judiciary.Committee, who are not mem-
bers of 'this subcbtrunittee, some of 
Whom are present here today, will not 
participate at all, but are interested 
in the event, in the fact, in the event 

that the - Matter under , d4gUssion 
reaches the full committee 

hrtr, 

The same committee has before it 'a 
couple of resolutions of inquiry which 
were introduced in the HouSe of Repre-
sentatives, referred by the Speaker to 
the Judiciary Committee, and Chairman 
Rodino designated this subcommittee to 
consider them. 

By a resolution of inquiry, the House 
of Representatives requests the Presi-
dent, or directs the head of one of the 
departments of Government, to furnish 
certain factual information, presumably 
to assist the House in its legislative 
function. 

Since the pardon power is not subject 
to legislative control, I suppose that a 
question can be raised as to whether a 
resolution of inquiry might legitimately 
lie on this question since the question 
itselt cannot resolve—be resolved by 
the legislative branch. 

Duty Not Imposed 
In any event, the mere introduction 

of a resolution does not impose a duty 
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upon the executive to respond, neither 
does committee consideration. Indeed, a 
resolution would be expected only if the 
House of Representatives itself adopted 
such a resolution, and even then written 
communication transmitting the factual 
information called for would ordinarily 
be sufficient. 

The personal appearance of the Presi-
dent of the. United States before fhis 
subcommittee does nothurrible his high.  
office, nor does it violate the separation 
of powers between the executive and 
legislative branches of Governnierit. 

It is essential if our Government is to 
operate that the executive and the legis-
lature work together-.`Your meeting with 
this SUbcOmmittee, Mr: President, here 
On Capitol Hill is symbolic of that work-
ing together in the national interest. 

But you do not come, Mr. President, 
in response to any command of the sub-
committee, nor even in response to its 
request. For it made no demand upon 
you or even a request for your•presence. 
Your appearance is entirely voluntary 
on your part. 

Your personal appearance here today 
must notte construed to mean that you 
will personally appear before this or any 
other committee of Congress in the fu-
ture, and Presidents of the United States 
in the future will be expected to respond 
to resolutions of inquiry in the future as 
they have in the past, by written com-
munication., 

But Mr. President, I can not adequate-
ly express to you my personal ,feelings 
of warm friendship and welcome, and 
my sense of the high honor that you' do 
this subcommittee, the full Judiciary 
ComMittee and the House of Representa-
tives in meeting with us here today. 
Thank you, Mr. President. 

Rep. Henry P. Smith 3d 
Mi. President, I, too, join in welcom-

ing you here in your voluntary appear-
ance before this' subcommittee of the 
House Committee on the Judiciary. 

You have come 'to answer questions 
in regard to your pardon of Richard M. 
Nixon on Sept. 8, 1974. These' questions 
have been 'propounded by certain mem-
bers of Congress arid, generally speak-
ing, the members of Congress and the 
people of the United States of America 
have a right to know the answers as far 
as this may be possible. 

Your appearance here has been volun-
tary and on your own motion, and I 
ocmmend you for taking this initiative. 
I do not think it establishes any prece-
dent; but, on the other hand, it is an ex-
ample of a splendid zooperation between 
the executive and the legislative branch-
es of. our.Government, which I trust may 
be followed many -times in the future by 
those who may come after you. as Pres-
ident of the United'States of America— 
the world's toughest job.. 	. 

Mr. President; I have known you for 
almost 10 years. and in that time I have 
always found you to be a man of frank-
ness and candor, a man in whose word 
one. could have.implicit trust, a man of 
the utmost integrity. It is in this spirit 
that I know yOu will answer the ques-
tions that have been raised about your 
pardon of Mr. -Nixon; And it is in this 
spirit' that I know this committee will 

Members of Panel 
Special to The New York Tirries 

WASHINGTON, Oct. 17—Following Ore 
the nine members of the Subcommittee 
on Criminal Justice of the House Judici-
ary Committee, which heard President 
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receive' your answers and will interro-
gate you. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
HUNGATE: Mr. President, you 

have an openina statement. Without 
objection it will 	made 'Part of the 
record and you may proceed as you see 
fit. We welcome you here today. 

• Preident Ford 
Thank you very 'much, Mr. Chairman, 

and members of the subcommittee. 
We meet here today to review the 

facts and the circumstances that were 
the basis for my pardon of' former Presi-
dent Nixon on Sept. 8, 1974. I want very 
much to have those facts and those 
circumstances known. 

The American people want to know 
them and members of Congress also 
want to know them. 	• • 

The two Congressional resolutions of 
inquiry now before this subcoMmittee 
serve these purposes. That's why I have 
volunteered to appear before you this 
morning and I welcome and thank you 
for this opportunity to speak to the 
questions raised by the resolutions.'  

My appearance at this, hearing of your 
distinguished subcommittee of the House 
Committee. on the Judiciary has been 
looked upon as an unusual historic 
event, one that has no firm precedent 
in the whole history of Presidential re- 
lations with the Congress. 	. 

Yet I am here not 'to make history 
but to report history. 

The history you are interested in 
covers so recent a period that it is not 
well-Understood. If, with your assist-
ance I can make for a better under-
standing of the pardon of former Presi- 



dent Nixon then we can help to achieve 
the purpose I had for granting the 
pardon when I did. 

The purpose was to change our na-
tional focus. I wanted to do all I could 
to shift our attention from the pursuit 
to a fallen President to the pursuit of 
the urgent needs of a rising nation. 

Our nation is under the severest of 
challenges now to employ its full 
energy and effort in the pursuit of a 
sound and growing economy at home 
and a stable and peaceful world around 
us.• , 

We would needlessly, be diverted 
from meeting thote challenges if we, 
as a people' were to remain sharply 
divided over whether to indict, bring 
to trial and punish a former President 
yho is already condenined to suffer 
long and deeply hi the shame and dis-
grace brought upon the office that he 
held. 

`A Record of Forgiving' 
Surely we are not a revengeful peo-

ple. We have often demonstrated a 
readiness to feel compassion and to act 
out of mercy. As a people we have a 
long record.  of forgiving even those who 
have been our country's most destruc-
tive foes. 

Yet to forgive is not to 'forget the 
lessOns of evil in 'whatever way evil 
has operated against us. 

And certainly the pardon granted the 
former President will not cause us to 
forget the evils of the Watergate-type 
offenses , or to forget the lessons we 
have learned that a Government which 

.deceives its supporters and treats its 
opponents as enemies must never, never 
be tolerated. , 

The pardon power entrusted to the 
President under the Constitution of the 
United States has a long history and 
rests on precedents. going back centuries 
before our Constitution was drafted and 
adopted.. 

The power has been used sometimes, 
as Alexander Hamilton saw its purposes, 
in seasons of insurrection, when a well-

timed offer of pardon, to the insurgents 
or rebels, may restore 'the tranquility of 
the COmmonwealth and which, if served 
to .pass, unimproVed, it .May never be 
possible afterwards to recall." 

Other times it has been applied to one 
person as an :act of grace, which ex-
empts the individuals on whom it was 
bestowed from the punishment the law 
inflicts for a crime he has committed. 

When a pardon is granted it also rep- 

resents the determination of the ulti-
mate .authority that the public welfare 
will be better served by inflicting less 
than what the judgment fixed. 

However, the Constitution does not 
limit the pardon power to cases of con-
victed =offenders or even indicted of-
fenders. 

Thus, I am firm in my conviction that 
as 'President I did have the authority to 
proclaim a pardon for' the former Pres-
ident when I did. 

Yet I can also understand why peo-
ple are moved to question my action. 
Some may still question my authority. 
But I find much of the disagreeMent 
urns on whether -I should have -acted 
when I did. Even then, many people 
have concluded, as I did, that the par-
don was in the best interests of the 
country because it came at a time when 
it would best serve the purpose I have 
stated. 

A Pledge to Cooperate 
I came to this hearing, Mr. Chairman, 

in the spirit of cooperation, to respond 
to your inquiries. I do so with the un-
derstanding that the subjects to be cov-
ered are defined add limited by the 
questions as they appear in the resolu-
tion before you. 

But even then, we may not mutually 
agree on what information falls within  

the proper scope of inquiry by the Con- 
gress. 

I feel a responsibility, as you do, that 
each separate branch of our Government 
must preserve a degree of confidentiality 
for its internal communication. 

Congress, for its part, has seen the 
wisdom of assuring that members be 
permitted to work under conditions of 
confidentiality. Indeed, earlier this year, 
the United States Senate passed a reso-
lution which reads in part as follows: 

"No evidence under the control and in 
the possession of the Senate of the 
United States can by the mandate of 
process of the ordinary courts of justice 
be taken from such control or posses-
sion but by its permission." 

In the United States versus Nixon the 
Supreme Court unanimously recognized 
a' rightful sphere of confidentiality with-
in the executive branch of the govern-
ment which the court determined could 
only be invaded for overriding reasons 
of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to 
the Constitution. 

As I have stated before, Mr. Chairman, 
my own-,view is that the right of execu-
tive privilege is to be exercised with 
caution and with restraint. 

When I was a member of Congress I 
did not hesitate to question the right of 
the executive branch to claim a privilege 
against supplying information to the 
Congress even if I thought the claim of 
privilege was being abused. 

Yet I did then, and I do now, respect 
the right of executive privilege when it 
protects advice given to a President in 
the expectation that it will not be dis-
closed. 

Provision for Frankness 
Otherwise, Mr. Chairman, no Pre'Sident 

could any longer count on receiving free 
and frank views from the people desig-
nated to-help him reach his official de-
cision. 

Also, it is certainly not my intention 
or even within my authority to detract 
on this occasion or in any other instance 
from the generally-recognized right of 
the. President to preserve the confiden-
tiality of internal discussions or com-
munications whenever it is properly 
within his constitutional responsibility 
to do so. 

These rights are within the authority 
of any President while he is in office, 
and I believe may be exercised as well 
by a past President if the information 
sought pertains to his official functions 
when he was serving in office. 

I bring up, Mr. Chairman, these im-
portant points before going into the 
balance of my statement so there can 
be no doubt that I remain mindful of 
the rights of confidentiality which a 
President may and ought to exercise in 
appropriate circumstances. 

However, I do not regard my answers 
as I have prepared them for the pur-
poses of this inquiry to be prejudicial 
to those rights in the present circum-
stances or' to constitute a precedent for 
responding to Congressional inquiries 
different in nature or scope or under 
different circumstances. 

Accordingly, Mr. Chairman, I shall 
proceed to explain as fully as I can 'in 
my present answers the facts and the 
circumstances covered by the present 
resolutions of inquiry. I shall start with 
an ..explanation of these events which 
were the first to occur in the period 
,covered by the inquiry before I became 
President. 

Then I will respond to the separate 
questions as they are numbered in 
house Resolution 1367 and as they spe- 

'cifically relate to the period after I be-
came President. 

House Resolution 1367 before this 
subcommittee asked for information 
about certain conversations that may 
have occurred over a period that in-
cludes when I was a member of Con-
gress or the Vice President. 

In that entire period no reference's or 
discussions on a possible pardon to then- ...   

President Nixon occurred unto Aug 
and 2, 1974. 

Spoke for the President 
-You will recall, Mr. Chairman, that 

since the beginning of the Watergate 
investigation I had consistently made 
statemen 	d speeches about President 
Nixon's i 	nce of either planning the 
break-in 	of participating in the cover- 
up. I sincerely believed he was innocent. 

Even in the closing months before the 
President, resigned I made public state-
ments that in my opinion the adverse 
revelations so far did not constitute an 
impeachment offense. 

I was coming under 'increasing criti-
cism for such public statements, but I 
still believed—I believed them to be true 
based on the facts as I knew therm 

In the early morning of Thursday, 
Aug. 1, 1974, I had a meeting in my 
Vice-Presidential office with Alexander 
M. Haig Jr., chief of staff for President 
Nixon. At this meetting I rwas told in a 

,general way about fears arising because 
of additional tape evidence scheduled for 
delivery to Judge Sirica on Monday, 
Aug. 5, 1974. 

I was told that there would—could be 
evidence which when disclosed to the 
House of Representatives would likely 
tip the vote in favor of impeachment. 

However, I was given no indication 
that this development would lead to any 
change in President Nixon's plans to op-
pose the impeachment vote. 

Then, shortly after noon, General Haig 
requested another . appointment as 
promptly as possible. He came to my 
office about 3:30 P. M. for a meeting 
that was to last for approximately three-
quarters of 'an hour. 

Only then did I learn of the damaging 
nature of a conversation on June 23, 
1972, in one of the tapes which was due 
to go to Judge Sirica the following 
Monday. 

I describe this meeting, Mr. Chairman, 
because at one point it did include ref- 
erences to a, possible pardon for Mr. 
Nixon to which the third and fourth 
questions in the House resolution are 
directed. 

However, nearly the entire meeting 
covered other subjects, all dealing with 
the totally- new situation resulting from 
the critical evidence on the tape of June 
23, 1972. 

Evidence Called Devastating 
General Haig told me he had been 

told of the new and damaging evidence 
by lawyers on the White House staff 
who had first-hand knowledge of what 
was on the tape. The substance of this 
conversation was that the new disclo-
sure would be devastating, even cata-
strophic, insofar as President Nixon was 
concerned. Based on what he had learned 
of the conversation on the tape, he 
wanted to know whether I was prepared 
to assume the Presidency within a very 
short period of time. 

And whether I would be willing to 
make recomniendations to the`Presiclent 
as to what course "heshould now follow. 

1 cannot really express adequately in 
words how shocked and how stunned 
I was by this unbelievable revelation. 
First was the sudden •awareness that I 
was likely to become President under 
the most troubled circumstances. 

And secondly, the realization that 
these' new revelations, or disclosures, 
ran completely counter to the position 
that I had taken for months in that I 
believed the President was not guilty 
of any impeachable offense. 

General Haig, in his conversation at 
my office, went on to tell me of dis-
cussions in the White House among 
those who knew of this evidence. Gen-
eral Haig asked for my assessment of 
the whole situation. He wanted my 
thoughts about the timing of•the resigna-
tion, if that decision were to be made. 

And about how to do it, and accom-
plish •an orderly change of the Admin-
istration. 

We discussed what scheduling prob-
lems there might be and what the early 



organizational problems would be. lien-
'era! Haig outlined for me President 
Nixon's situation as'he saw it. And the 
different views in • the White House as 
to the courses of action that might 
be available, and which were being 
advanced by various people around him 
on the White House staff. 

As I recall, there were different 
courses being cOnsidered. No. I, some 
suggested riding it out by letting the 
impeachment take 'its course through 
the House and the Senate trial, fighting 
all the way against the conviction. 

Two. Others were urging 'resignation 
sooner or later. I was told some people 
backed the first course and other people 
a resignation. But not with the same 
views as to how and when it should 
take place.) 

>,---6>tions Were Reviewed 
(6n the resignation issue, there were 

put forth a number of options which 
General Haig reviewed with me. As I 
recall his conversation, various possible 
-options being considered included: 

I.,  The President temporarily step 
aside under the 25th Amendment. 

2. Delaying the resignation until fur-
ther along the impeachment process. 

3. Trying first to settle for a censure 
vote as a means of avoiding either im-
peachment or a need to resign. 

4. The question of whether the Presi-
dent could pardon himself. 

5. Pardo'ning various Watergate de-
fendants, then himself followed by res-
ignation. 0A pardon to the President 
should he resign. 	. 

The rush of events placed an urgency 
on what was to be done. It became even 
more critical-in view of a prolonged im-
peachment trial which was expected to 
last possibly four months or longer. 

The impact of the Senate trial on the 
country, the handling of possible inter-
national crisis, the, economic situation 
here at home, and the marked slowdown 
in the decision-making process within 
the Federal Government were all factors 
to be considered, and were discussed. 

General Haig wanted my views on the 
Continued on Following Page 

Continued from Preceding Page 
various courses of action as well as my 
attitude on the options of resignation. 
However, he indicated he was not advo-
cating any of the options. 

I inquired as to what was the Presi-
dent's pardon power. And he answered 
that it was his -understanding from a 
White House lawyer that a President 
did have the authority to grant a par-
don, even before any criminal action had 
been taken against an individual. But, 

• obviously, he was in no position to have 
' any opinion on a matter of law. 

As I saw it at this point, the ques-
tion clearly before me was under the 
circumstances what course of action 
should I recommend that would be in 
the best interest of the country. 

I told General Haig that I had to 
have some time to think. Further, that 
I wanted to talk to James St. Clair. I 
also said I wanted to talk to my wife 
before giving any response. I had con-
sistently and firmly held the view pre-
viously that in no way whatsoever could 

' I recommend either publicly or private-
ly any step by the President that might 
cause a change in my status as Vice 
President. 

Theory on Vice Presidency 
As the person who would become 

President if a vacancy occurred for any 
reason in that office, a Vice President, I 
believed, should endeavor not to do or 
say anything which might affect his 
President's tenure in office. 

Therefore, I certainly was not even 
ready under these circumstances to  

make any recommenaations aoout res-
ignation, without having adequate time 
to consider further what I should prop- 
erly do. • 	 2 "--u1-7 Shortly, after 8 o'clock the next morn-
ing, James St. Clair came to my office. 
Although' he did not spell out in detail 
the, new evidence, there was no ques-
tion in my mind that he considered 

. ' these revelations to be so damaging • that impeachment in the House was a 
• certainty and conviction in the Senate a 

high probability. 
. When asked Mr. St. Clair if he knew 
of any oother new and damaging evi-
dence beside that on the June 23, 1972, 
tape, he said no. 

When I pointed out to hini the various 
options r entioned to me by General 
Haig, he 'old me he had not been the 
source of any opinion about Presidential 
pardon power. 

After thought on the matter, I was 
.determined not to make any recommen-
.dations to President Nixon on his res-
ignation: I had not given any advice or 
recommendations in my conversations 
with his aides, but I also did not want 
anyone who might talk to the President 
to suggest that I had some intentions 
to do so. 

For that reason, Mr. Chairman, I 
decided I should call General Haig the 
afternoon 'of Aug. 2. I did make the call 
late that afternoon and told him I wanted 
him to understand that I had no inten-
tion of recommending what President 
Nixon should do about resigning or not 

-resigning; and that nothing we had talked 
about tl3e previous afternoon should be t given ...4fiy consideration in whatever 
decision the President might make. 

General Haig told me he was in full 
agreement with this position. 

My t gel schedule called for me to 
make --a-arances in Mississippi and 
Louisia , over Saturday, Sunday and 
part of Monday, Aug. 3, .4 and 5. 
• ' 	Concern Over Reaction 

In the previous eight months I had, 
repeatedly stated my opinion that the 
President would not be found guilty of 
any impeachable offense. Any change 
from my stated views or even refusal 
to comment further I feared would lead 
in the press to conclusions that I now 
wanted to see the President resign to 
avoid an impeachment vote in the 
House and probable conviction in the 
Senate. 

For that reason I remained firm in 
my answers to press questions during 
that trip and repeated by belief in the 
President's innocence of an impeach-
able offense. 

Not Auitil I returned to Washington 
did I learn that President Nixon was to 
release -the new evidence late on Mon-
day, Aug. 5, 1974. 

At esout the same time I was noti-
fied t' ' the President had called a 
Cabin( . ieeting for Tuesday Morning, 
Aug 6, 19'74. At that meeting in the 
Cabinet room, I announced that I was 
making no recommendations to the 
President as to what he should do in 
light of the new evidence. I made no 
recommendations to him either at that 
meeting or at any time -after that. 

In summary, Mr. Chairman, I assure 
you that there was never at any time 
any agreement whatsoever concerning a 
pardon to Mr. Nixon if he were to resign 
and .I were to become President, 

Mr. Chairman, turning now to House 
Resolution 1367. 

The first uestion of House Resolution 
1367 as w ether I or my representa-
tive ' had specific knowledge of any 
formal criminal charges pending.against 
Richard M. Nixon. The answer is no. 

I had known, of course, Mr. Chair-
man, that the grand jury investigating 
the Watergate break-in and cover-up had 
-wanted to name President Nixon as an 

indicted co-conspirator in the cover-up. 
i Also I I-new that an extensive report 

had t • • prepared by the Watergate 
Specia: 1  7osecution Force for the grand 
jury aril, had been sent to the House 

.Committee on Judiciary where I believe 
it served the. staff and the members of 
the committee in the development of its 
report on the proposed-  Articles of . Im-
peachment. 

Memorandum From Prosecutor 
Beyond what was disclosed in the pub-

lications of the Judiciary Committee on 
the subject, and additional evidence re-
leased, by President 'Nixon on Aug. 5,  
1974, . I saw on or shortly after Sept. 4 
,a copy of a memorandom prepared ftv 

• Special Prosecutor Jaworski by the Dep-
uty Special Prosecutor, Henry Ruth; a 

1 
 copy of this memorandum has been fur-

i  nished by Mr. Jaworski to my counsel 
and was later made public during a 
press briefing at the White House on 
Sept. 10, 1974. 

I have supplied the subcommittee with 
'a copy of this memorandum; the mem-
orandum lists matters still under investi-
gation which—and I quote—"may prove 
to have some direct connection to ac-
tivities in which Me:-Nixon is personally 
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presiding at the hearing yesterday. 

The Watergate cover-up is not in-
cluded in this list and the alleged cover-
up is mentioned only as being the sub-
ject of a separate memorandum not fur-nished to me. 

Of those matters which are listed in 
the memorandum, it is stated that none 
of them at the moment rises to the level 
of our ability to prove even a probable 
criminal violation by Mr. Nixon. 

This is all the information I had which 
related even to the possibility of formal 
criminal charges involving the former 
President while he had been in office. 

The second question in the resolution 
asks w}iether Alexander Haig referred 
to or discussed a pardon with Richard 
Nixon or his representatives at any time 
during the week of Aug. 4, 1974, or any 
subsequent time. 

My answer to that question is, "Not 
to my knowledge." If any such discus-
sions did occur they could not have been 
a factor in my decision to grant the 
pardon when I did because I was not 
aware of them. X 

Questions 3 and 4 of House Resolu-
tion 1367 deal with the first and all sub-
sequent references to or discussions of 
a pardon for Richard M. Nixon with him 
or any of his representatives or aides. 

I have already described in length 
what discussion took place on Aug. 1 
and 2, 1974, and how these discussions 
brought no recommendations or commit-
ments whatsoever on my part. 

This appears to be an incomplete transcript of the questions and' answers. See question by Hogan referred to in story by Shabecoff, p. 21, paragraph 6, which is not included in the transcript. • 



Abzug Resolution of Inquiry, 16 Sep 74, 
Question 2: 

"Did Alexander Haig refer to or discuss 
a pardon for Richard M. Nixon with 
Richard H. Nixon or representatives of 
Mr. Nixon at any time during the week of 
Aug. 4, 1974, or at any subsequent time? 

NYTimes 18 Oct 74, p. 18  

Answer by Ford, 17 Oct 74: 

"The second question in the resolution 
asks whether Alexander Haig referred to 
or discussed a pardon with Richard Nixon 
or his representatives at any time during 
the week of Aug. 4, 1974, or any 
subsequent time. 

"My answer to that question is, 'Not 
to my knowledge.' If any such 
discussions did occur they could not have 
been a factor in my decision to grant the 
pardon when I did because I was not aware 
of them." 

NYTimes 18 Oct 74, p. 19, col. 2, 
paragraphs 4, 5 



Subject Was Not Praised 
These were the only discussions re-

lated to questions 3 and 4 before I be-
came President. But question 4 relates 
also to subsequent discussions. At no 
time after I became President on Aug. 9, 
1974, was the subject of a pardon for 
Richard M. Nixon raised by the former 
President or by anyone representing 
him. 

Also, no one on my staff brought up 
the subject until the day before my first 
press conference on Aug. 28, 1974. At 
that time I was advised that questions 
on the subject might be raised by media 
reporters at the press conference. 

As the press conference preceded—or 
proceeded—the first question asked in-
volved the subject, as did other later 
questions. 

In my answers to those questions, I 
took a position that while I was the final 
authority on this matter, I expected to 
make no commitment one way or the 
other depending on what the special 
prosecutor and courts would do. 

However, I also stated that I believed 
the general view of the American people 
was to spare the former President from 
a criminal trial. 

Shortly afterward, I became greatly 
concerned that if Mr. Nixon's prosecu-
tion and trial was prolonged, the pas-
sions generated over a long period of 
time would seriously disrupt the healing 
of our country from the wounds of the 
past. 

I could see that the new Administra-
tion could not be effective if it had to 
operate in the atmosphere of having a 
former President under prosecution in 
criminal trial. Each step along the way, 
I was deeply concerned, would ,become 
a public spectacle, and the topic of wide 
public debate and controversy. 

As I have before stated publicly, these 
concerns led me to ask, from my own 
legal counsel, what my full right of par-
don was under the Constitution in this 
situation. And from the special prose-
cutor, what criminal actions, if any, 
were likely to be brought against the 
former President. How long his prosecu-
tion and trial would take. 

As soon as I had been given this in-
formation, Mr. Chairman, I authorized 
my counsel, Philip Buchan, to tell Her-
bert J. Miller, as attorney for Richard 
M. Nixon, of my pending decision to 
grant a pardon for the former President. 
I was advised that the disclosure was 
made an Sept. 4, 1974, when Mr. Buchan, 
accompanied by Benton Becker, met 
with Mr. Miller. 

Temporary Special Assignment 
Mr. Becker had been asked, with my 

concurrence, to take on a temporary 
special assignment to assist Mr. Buchan, 
at a time when no one else of my selec-
tion had yet been appointed to the legal 
staff of the White House. 

The fourth question, Mr. Chairman, 
in the resolution also asks about nego-
tiations with Mr. Nixon or his repre-
sentatives on the subject of a pardon 
for the former President. 

The pardon under consideration was 
not, so far as I was concerned, a mat-
ter of negotiation. I realized that unless 
Mr. Nixon actually accepted the pardon 
I was preparing to grant, it probably 
would not be effective. So I certainly 
had no intention to proceed without 
knowing if it would be accepted. Other-
wise, I put no conditions on my grant-
ing of a pardon which required any 
negotiations. 

Although negotiations had been 
started earlier and were conducted 
through Sept. 6 concerning White 
House records of the prior Administra- 
tion, I did not make any agreement on 
that subject a condition of the pardon. 

-file circumstances leading to an ini-
tial agreement on Presidential records 
are not covered by the resolutions be-
fore this subcommittee. Therefore, I 
have mentioned discussion on that sub- . 	_ _ 	•  

ject with Mr. Nixon's attorney only to 
show that they were related in time to 
the pardon discussions but were not a 
basis for my decision to grant a pardon 
to the former President. 

The fifth, sixth and seventhicuestioris 
of House ReSaution 1367 ask whether 
I consulted with certain persons before 

• T did not 
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consult at all with Attorney General 
Saxbe on the subject of a pardon for 
Mr. Nixon. My only conversation on the 
subject with Vice-Presidential nominee 
Nelson Rockefeller was to report to him 
on Sept. 6, 1974, that I was planning to 
grant the pardon. 

Special Prosecutor Jaworski was con-
tacted on my instructions by my coun-
sel, Philip Buchan. One purpose of their 
discussions was to seek the information 
I wanted on what possible criminal 
charges might be brought against Mr. 
Nixon. 

Memorandum Resulted 
The result of that inquiry was the 

copy of the memorandum I have already 
referred to and have furnished to this 
subcommittee. 

The only other purpose was_ to find 
out the opinion of the special prosecu-
tor as to how long a delay would fol-
low in the event of Mr. Nixon's indict-
ment before a trial could be started and 
concluded. 

At a White House press briefing on 
Sept. 8, 1974, the principal portions of 
Mr. Jaworski's opinion were made pub-
4ic. In this opinion, Mr. Jaworski wrote 
that selection of a jury for the trial of 
the former President, if he were in-
dicted, would require a delay—and I 
qUate—"of a period from nine months 
to a year and perhaps even longer." 
End quote. 

On the question of how long it would 
take to conduct such a trial he noted 
that the complexity of the jury selec-
tion made it difficult to estimate the 
time. Copy of the full text of his opin-
ion, dated Sept. 4, 1974, I have now 
furnished to this subcommittee. 

I did consult with my counsel, Philip 
Buchan, with Benton Becker and with 
my counselor John Marsh, who is also 
an attorney. 

Outside of these men serving at the 
time on my immediate staff I con-
sulted with no other attorneys or pro-
fessors of law for facts or legal author-
ities bearing on my decision to grant 
a pardon to the former President. 

Questions eight and nine of House 
Resolution 1367 deal with the circum-
stances of my—of any—statement re-
quested or received from Mr. Nixon. 

I asked for no confession or statement 
of guilt, only a statement in acceptance 
of the pardon when it was granted. No 
language was suggested or requested by 
anyone acting for me to my knowledge. 

My council advised me that he had 
told the attorney for Mr. Nixon that he 
believed the statement should be one 
expressing contrition, and in this respect 
I was told Mr. Miller concurred. 

Preliminary Draft Seen 
Before I announced the pardon I saw 

a preliminary draft of a proposed state-
ment from Mr. Nixon but I did not re-
gard the language of the statement as 
subsequently issued to be subject to ap-
proval by me or my representatives. 

The tenth question, Mr. Chairman, 
covers any report to me on Mr. Nixon's 
health by a physician or psychiatrist 
which led to my pardon decision. 

I received no such reports. 
Whatever information was generally,„ 

known to me at the time of my pardon 
decision was based on my own observa-
tions of his condition at the time he re-
signed as President'and observations re-
ported to me after that from others who  

had later seen or talked wth him. 
No such reports were by people qual-

ified to evaluate medically the condition 
of Mr. Nixon's health and so they were 
not a controlling factor in my decision. 

However, I believed and still believe 
that prosecution and trial of the former 
President would have proved a serious 
threat to his health, as I stated in my 
message on Sept. 8, 1974. 

House _ Resolution 1370 is the other 
ressoliatii of inquiry before this sub-
committee. It presents no questions but 
asks for the full and complete facts upon 
which was based by decision to grant a 
pardon to Richard M. Nixon. I know of 
no such facts that are not covered by 
my answers to the questions in House 
Resolution 1367. 

Also, sub paragraphs one and four: 
There were no representations made by 
me or for me and none by Mr. Nixon or 
for him on which my pardon was based. 

Sub paragraph two: The health issue 
is dealt with by me in answer to ques-
tion 10 of the previous resolution. 

Sub paragraph three: Information 
available to me about possible offenses 
in which Mr. Nixon might have been in-
volved is covered in my answer to the 
first question of the earlier resolution. 

In addition, an unnumbered paragraph 
at the end of House Resolution 1370, 
seeks information on possible pardon for 
Watergate-related offenses which others 
may have committed. 

Submission of Pardon Requests 
I have decided that all persons request-

ing consideration of pardon requests 
should submit them through the Depart-
ment of Justice. 

Only when I receive information on 
any request duly filed and considered 
first by the pardon attorney at the De-
partment of Justice would I consider the 
matter. 

As yet uno such information has been 
received. And if it does, I will act ar de-
cline to act, according to the particular 
circumstances presented—and not on 
the basis of the unique circumstance, 
as I,, saw them, of farmer President 
Nixon. 

Mr. Chairman, by these response's to 
the resolution of inquiry I believe I have 
fully and fairly presented the facts and 
the circumstances preceding my pardon 
for former President Nixon. 

In this way I hope I have contributed 
to a much better understanding by the 
American people of the action I took to 
grant the pardon when I did. 

For hawing afforded me this oppor-
tunity I do express my appreciation to 
you, Mr. Chairman, and to Mr. Smith, 
and the other members of the subcom-
mittee. And also to Chairman Rodino 
of the Committee on Judiciary, to Mr. 
Hutchinson, the ranking Minority mem-
ber of the full committee, and to other 
distinguished members of the full com-
mittee who are present 

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I would like 
to reemphasize that I acted solely for 
the reasons I stated in my proclamation 
of Sept. 8, 1974 and my accompanying 
message. And that I acted out of my 
concern to serve the best interests of 
my country. 

AS I stated then, Mr. Chairman — and 
oip,te — My concern is the immediate 
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future of this great country. My con-
science tells me it is my duty not merely 
to proclaim domestic tranquility but to 
use every means that I have to ensure 
it. End quote. 

Mr. Chairman, I thank you and the 
committee members for the opportunity 
to make these views known. 

HUNGATE: Mr. President, on behalf 
of the subcommittee, we express our 
appreciation for your appearance here, 
in bringing facts that will be helpful to 
the American people and the Congress. 

Now there will be some who will find 



the answers fully satisfactory and 
forthright. There will be others who 
will not. But I would hope that all 
would appreciate your openness and 
willingness to come before the Amer-
ican public and the Congress to dis-
cuss this important matter. 

The gentleman from Wisconsin, Mr. 
Kastenmeier 

REPRESENTATIVE ROBERT W. KAS-
TENMEIER, DEMOCRAT OF WISCON-
SIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I, 
too, would like to join my colleagues 
in welcoming the President. I don't be-
lieve any of us could have anticipated a 
year ago, when the President then ap-
peared as a nominee under the 25th 
Amendment for Vice President, that 
you'd once again appear before this 
committee as President of the United 
States. 

And I would only comment, no mat-
ter how well motivated the desire to 
put .  Watergate behind us, I can only ac-
knowledge today that several key is-
sues in the news this morning—the 
President's appearance before this com-
mittee, the trial downtown, the Water-
gate trial itself, and even the nomina-
tion of Mr. Rockefeller to be the Vice 
President, occasioned by a vacancy due 
to Watergate—all of these still com-
mand the attention of the , American 
people. 

And I guess we'll just have to be 
patient. 

Mr. President, you indicated that you 
wanted to spare Mr. Nixon a criminal 
trial. Did you specifically have any other 
end in view in terms of protecting Mr. 
Nixon in terms of a pardon? That is to 
say, whatever a pardon would spare the 
President other than a criminal trial, 
were there any other adversities which a 
pardon would help Mr. Nixon with as 
you saw it? 

PRESIDENT: As I indicated in the 
proclamation that I issued, and as I indi-
cated in the statement I made at the 
time, on Sept. 8, my prime reason was 
for the benefit of the country, not for 
any benefits that might be for Mr. Nixon. 

I exercised my pardon authority under 
the Constitution, which relates only to 
those criminal matters during the period 
from Jan. 20, 1969, until Aug. 9, 1974. 

KASTENMEIER: I appreciate that, Mr. 
President, but it must have been some-
thing you foresaw which could happen 
to Mr. Nixon which justified the pardon. 
If in fact you were advised—and per-
haps------3.7.Eave—net—that  there—is—net 
haps you were not—that there is no pro-
ceeding that is going to be commensed 
against Mr. Nixon, that nothing would 

„happen to him, really a pardon may have 
been an empty gesture in that event. 

PRESIDENT: As I indicated, Mr. Kast-
enmeier, after the press conference on 
Aug. 28, where three questions were 
raised about the pardon, or the possibil-
ity of a pardon, I asked my counsel to 
find out from the special prosecutor 
what, if any, charges were being con-
sidered by the special prosecutor's of-
fice. 

And as I indicated in my prepared 
statement, I received from Mr. Jawor-
ski certain information indicating that 
there were possible or potential criminal 
proceedings against Mr. Nixon. 

KASTENMEIER: But you did not deter-
mine, as a matter of fact, that there 
was any intention to proceed to indict-
ment with any of those matters, is that 
not correct? 

PRESIDENT: In the memorandum, I 
believe of Sept. 4, from Mr. Jaworski, 
prepared by Mr. Ruth, there were 10 pos-
sibilities listed. On the other hand, there 
was, I think, well-known information 
that there was a distinct possibility of 
Mr. Nixon being indicted on the grounds 
of obstructing justice. 

KASTENMEIER: The effect of the par-
don in terms of the 10 possible areas of 
investigation, as you saw it at the time, 
was to terminate those investigations as 
well as end any pos'sibility of indictment  

on those grounus. 
PRESIDENT: Well, the power of par-

don does cover any criminal actions 
during a stipulated period. And as the 
pardon itself indicated, it went from 
the day that Mr. Nixon first took the 
oath of office until he actually resigned 
on Aug. 9. 

KASTENMEIER: My question is, did 
you have reason to believe that other 
than the 10 areas of investigation and 
the cover-up, that the former President 
might need to be protected in any'other 
area where a possibility lies of criminal 
prosecution. 

PRESIDENT: I knew of no other—of 
any other potential or possible criminal 

• charges. No. 
KASTENMEIER: My time has expired, 

Mr. Chairman. 
HUNGATE: The gentleman from New 

York, Mr. Smith. 
SMITH: Mr. President, in regard to 

your answer on Page 18 of your state-
ment of whether you consulted with 
certain persons, and in that connec-
tion—and in connection with Question 
No. 6 of HR 1367, you stated in regard • 
to the Vice-Presidential nominee, Nel-
son Rockefeller, that your only con-
versation on the subject with him was 
to report to him on Sept. 6, 1974 that 
"I was planning to grant the pardon." 

Now the question asks whether he 
gave you any facts or legal authorities, 
and my question is: did he do so? 

PRESIDENT: Nelson Rockefeller did 
not give my any facts or legal author-
ities. He was in my office to discuss 
with me the proceeding concerning his 
nomination. And at the conclusion of a 
discussion on that matter I felt that I 
should inform him of the possible or 
prospective action that I would be tak-
ing. 

But he gave me no facts, he gave me 
no legal advcice concerning the pardon. 

SMITH: Mr. President, as you were 
minority leader of the Congress before 
you ,became Vice President of the 
Unite8 States, did you at any time 
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discuss the wisdom of advisability of 
a possible Presidential pardon for Presi-
dent Nixon with President Nixon or any 
of his representatives or any member 
of the White House staff? This was in 
the period before you became Vice 
President. 

PRESIDENT: The answer is categor-
ically no. Before I became Vice Presi-
dent, Mr. Smith, I on several occasions 
—I can't recall how many—indicated to 
President Nixon himself that I thought 
he should not resign If my memory is 
accurate, Mr; Smith, before I became 
Vice President there were individuals-
-both in the Congress and otherwise—
who were advocating that Mr- Nixon 
resign. 

I do recall on one or more occasions 
telling Mr- Nixon in my judgement he 
should not because I thought that would 
be an admission of guilt, and on the 
information I had at that time I did not 
believe Mr Nixon was guilty of any im 
peachable offense. 

SMITH: Thank you, Mr. President. 
You touched upon your observations of 
President Nixon's health, and I wonder 
whether at any time before you became 
Vice President of the United States, did 
you learn any facts about his physical 
or mental health which later became 
relevant to your decision to pardon Mr. 
Nixon? 

FORD. Before I was Vice President, I 
saw Mr. Nixon periodically, coming to 
the White House for leadership meetings 
or for other reasons, and during that 
period had the distinct impression that 
his health was good. 

And I didn't see any discernible change 
in my own opinion until the last day or 
two of his Presidency. And I did notice 
the last time I saw him in the Oval Of-
fice on Aug. 9, I thought he was drawn 
and possibly a little thinner. But that's 
the only observation I made. xe- 

SMITH: Thank you, Mr. President. 
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HUNGATE: The gentleman from Cali-
fornia, Mr. Edwards. 

REPRESENTATIVE DON EDWARDS: 
Mr. President, on pages 10 and 11 of 
your statement you indicate that there 
were some general discussions with 
General Haig and Mr. St. Clair before 
the resignation about the pardon powers 
in general. Did they have any reason to 
carry a message to then President 
Nixon that this pardon power could pos-
sibly be used an his behalf if he re-
signed? 

PRESIDENT: None whatsoever. Cate-
gorically no. 

EDWARDS: Then why, Mr. President, 
were those general discussions about 
pardon? 

PRESIDENT: Well as I indicated in my 
prepared statement, General Haig came 
to me first to apprise me of the dramat-
ic change in the situation and as I in-
dicated in the prepared statement, told 
me that I shmild be prepared to assume 
the presidency very quickly and wanted 
to know whether I was ready to do that. 

Secondly, he did indicate that in the 
White House, among the President's 
advisers, there were many options being 
discussed as to what course of action 
the President should take and in the 
course of my discussion on Aug. 1, with 
General Haig, he outlined, as I did in the 
prepared text, the many options that 
were being discussed. 

He asked for any recommendations I 
would make and as I indicated, in the 
prepared text, I made none. 

EDWARDS: Thank you. Mr. Buchan 
said several times, and I believe you 
have mentioned, that the pardon did in-
volve a certain aspect of mercy. Would 
not the same considerations of mercy 
apply to the Watergate defendants down-
town who now are putting forth as their 
chief defense their allegation that they 
were merely acting under orders of Mr. 
Nixon, then President and their boss? 

PRESIDENT: Mr. Edwards, in light of 
the fact that their trials are being car-
ried out at the present time I think it 
inadvisable for me to comment on my 
of the proceedings in those trials. 

EDWARDS: Mr. President, put your-
self in the position of a high school 
teacher, shall we say, in Watts or the 
barrios of San Jose or Harlem, and if 
you were a teacher how would you ex-
plain-to the-young people the American 
concept of equal justice under law? 

PRESIDENT: Mr. Edwards, Mr. Nixon 
was the 37th President of the United 
States. He had been preceded by 36 
others. He is the only President in the 
history of this country who has resigned 
under shame and disgrace. I think that 
in and of itself can be understood, can 
be explained to students or to others. 
That was a major, major step and a mat-
ter of, I'm sure, grave, grave delibera-
tions by the former President and it cer- 



tainly, as I've said several times, con-
stituted shame and disgrace. 

EDWARDS: Thank you, Mr. President. 
Mr. President, do you think that it is 
wise to pardon a man before indictment 
or trial for offenses that are completely 
unknown to you and which might pos-
sibly be terribly serious? 

PRESIDENT: As I indicated, Mr. Ed-
wards, I did to the best of my ability 
check with probably the best authority 
in the country on what if any charges 
would be made against Mr. Nixon. 
Those were or potentially were serious 
charges. I think that in taking the action 
I did concerning those charges I was 
exercising in a proper way the pardon 
authority given a President under the 
Constitution. 

EDWARDS: Thank you, Mr. President. 
HUNGATE: The gentlem,an from In-

diane, Mr. Dennis. 

REPRESENTATIVE DAVID W. DEN-
NIS, REPUBLICAN OF INDIANA: Thank 
you. Mr. Chairman. Mr. President. 
I would like to state that I, too, 
share with my colleagues deep apprecia-
tion for your appearance here before our 
subcommittee this morning. 

Mr. President, on Page 7 of your state-
ment where you were talking about your 
second interview with General Haig. in 
the afternoon of Aug. 1, you state that, 
"I describe this meeting because at one 
point it did inchide referenCeS to a pos-
sible pardon for Mr. Nixon." 

I take it that you have spelled out 
what those references were over on 
Pages 0, where the options are spelled 
out, and Page 10, where you state that 
you inquired as to what was the Presi-
dent's pardon power. Is that it? 

PRESIDENT: Yes. It is spelled out in 
the titems, instances I through 6—the 
various options involving the pardon. 

DENNIS: And does that include every. 
thing that was said at that time on, the 
subject of pardon, substantially? / 

PRESIDENT: Yes, sir. 
DENNIS: Mr. President,__I note that 

on Page 10 you state that you asked the 
General as to what the President's par-
don power was, and he very properly 
replied that he had certain information 
but couldn't give legal opinion. When, 
where and from whom did you ultimate-
ly obtain the opinion that you were en, 
titled under the doctrine of ex parti Gar-
land and so on to issue a pardon when 
there had been no charge or no convic-
tion? 

PRESIDENT: When I came back to 
the Oval Office, Mr. Dennis, following a 
press conference on Aug. 28, where 
three questions were raised by the news 
media involving a pardon, I instructed 
my counsel—Mr. Buchan—to check in 
an authoritative way what pardon pow-
er a President had. 

And he, several days later—I don't 
recall precisely—came back and briefed 
me on my pardon power as President 
of the United States. 

DENNIS: Mr. President, the exercise 
of executive clemency is, of course, a 
well-recognized part of the legal system 
of this country—exercised by you and 
all your predecessors—is that not the 
fact? 

PRESIDENT: That is correct, sir. 
DENNIS: And you have given this 

committee, as I understand your testi-
mony this morning, your complete state-
ment as to your reasons for exercising 
that power in this particular case? 

PRESIDENT: I have, sir. 
DENNIS: And in answer to my friend, 

Mr. Edwards, you have -stated the fact 
that you felt that for an ex-President of 
the United States to resign under these 
circumstances was sufficient strong 
punishment and that that should •answer 
the problems of those who have raised  

the question of equal justice under law? 
PRESIDENT: That is correct sir. 
DENNIS: And that you would consider 

other possible pardons on the facts' of 
those particular cases when and if they 
were presented to you? 

PRESIDENT: That is correct. 
DENNIS: And that them was no con-

dition attached to this pardon and 
sort of agreement made in respect t'. °s.-
to before it was granted? 

PRESIDENT: None whatsoever, sir. 
DENNIS: Thank you, Mr. President. 

have no further questions, Mr. Chairman, 
REPRESENTATIVE JAMES R. MANN, 

DEMOCRAT OF SOUTH CAROLINA: 
Thank you Mr. Chairman. Mr. President, 
Mr. Kastenmeier asked you about the 
termination of the investigation by the 
special prosecutor's office. Was it your 
intention by the pardon to terminate 
the investigation by the Special Prose-
cutor's office in the 10 areas that you 
received a report from that office on? 

PRESIDENT: I think the net result of 
the pardon was in effect just that, yes 
sir. 

MANN: And is that part of the reason 
that you didn't consult with Mr. Jawor-
ski with reference to the tape lagree-
ments as to how that might affect his 
further investigations? 

PRESIDENT:' Well as I pointed out 
the tape agreement was initiated be-
tween my legal counsel and Mr. It. a 
sometime before the question of a 
don ever arose. The reason for that, Mr. 
Mann, is that I came into office and 
almost immediately there .were demands 
and requests not only from the special 
prosecutor, as I recall, but from Other 
sources as to those tapes and other 
documents. 

And one of the first things I did 
when these problems came to my desk 
was to ask the Attorney General for 
his opinion as to the ownership of those 
tapes or any other documents. 

And once we got that information 
then we felt that there ought to be 
some discussion as to where the tapes 
and other documents would be held and 
under what circumstances. 

MANN: Well o•f course the mandate of 
the special prosecutor's office was not 
directed solely at President Nixon. But 
is it not so that the pardon in effect 
terminated that investigation insofar as 
other parties and other possible de-
fendants in getting to the true facts of 
the matter that has disturbed out r 
tional political life during these 
two years. 

PRESIDENT: I do not believe that the 
action I took in pardoning President 
Nixon had any impact on any other 
date that that special prosecutor's Of co 
had. 

MANN: What response would you 
have if the special prosecutor's office 
now requested access to certain of the 
tapes now in the custody of the Gov-
ernment? 

PRESIDENT: The material that is still 
held by the Government, and my under-
standing of the Supreme Court's deci-
sion permits the special prosecutor to 
obtain any of the material for its re-
sponsibility. And I, of course, not in a 
personal way, would make certain that 
that information was made available to 
the special prosecutor's office. 

MANN: Acceding to press reports, Mr. 
Clement Stone visited President Nixon 
on Sept. 2 and, thereafter, met with you 
in Washington. Are you at liberty to tell 
us the gist of the communication in-/6:V. 
ing President Nixon from Mt. atone 
to you? 

PRESIDENT: Mr. stool came tos 
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me about a program that he's used very 
successfully in his business—a program 
which he's very proud of and he was 
urging -me to institute it in the various 
bureaus and departments of the Federal 
Government. There was no other mes-
sage conveyed by him from Mr. Nixon 
to me. 

MANN: Did you ever discuss the par-
don with former President Nixon after 
his resignation and prior to the grant-
ing of the pardon? 

PRESIDENT: Will you repeat that 
again, please? 

MANN: Did you have any personal 
conversations with former , President 
Nixon concerning the pardon between 
his resignation and Sept. 8? 

PRESIDENT: Absolutely not. 
MANN: Now in response to Mr. Ed-

wards' question about equal justice un-
der. the law, I know that you make a 
distinction that here we are talking 
about the office of President of the 
United States, but let's assume that we 
are talking about the president of a 
bank, the Governor of a state, or Chief 
Justice of the United States Supreme 
Court in whose mind those are very 
high political offices, do you think any 
of those,  persons who are collectively 
criminally culpable through resignation 
should be entitled to any treatment 'dif-
ferent from any other criminal? 

PRESIDENT: Mr. Mann I' don't think I 
should answer a hypothetical question 
of that kind. I was dealing with reality 
and I have given in my best judgment 
the reasons for the action that I took. 
And to pass judgment on any 'other per-
son or individual holding any other 
office in public or private I think it 
would be inappropriate for me. 

MANN: The — you have heard the 
maxim: that the law is no respecter of 
persons. Do you agree with that? 

PRESIDENT: Certainly it should be. 
MANN: Thank you, Mr. President. 
HUNGATE: The gentleman from Iowa, 

Mr. Mayne. 
REPRESENTATIVE WILEY MAYNE, 

REPUBLICAN OFF IOWA: Thank You, 
Mr. Chairman. Mr. President, I believe 
that the chairman and others in their 
questioning have established very 
clearly that your appearance here to-
day is an entirely voluntary one on 
your part, that it was your idea, 
that you had not been requested 
by the committee to come in person, 
that we had indicated that it would 
be entirely satisfactory as far as we 
were concerned if some assisant ap-
peared instead.' 

PRESIDENT: That is correct, sir. 
MAYNE: I do not think, however, 

that it has yet been made clear in the 
record, and I think this should be, 
that it is also true that you were will-
ing to come and to tell this full story, 
as' you have done, before the commit-
tee and on television before the Amer-
ican people much earlier than today. 
Is that not true? 

PRESIDENT: Yes. I think the ori-
ginal schedule was set for about a 
week ago, I've forgotten the exact 
date. 

MAYNE: Well, my. recollection -
and you can correct me if I am wrong 
—is that as early as Sept. 30, you 
offered and volunteered to appear be-
fore the sub-committee at our next 
regular meeting, which would have 
been on Sept.—on Oct. 1. But it was 
indicated to you that that would be 
too early for the committee to be able 
to accommodate such an appearance. 

PRESIDENT: I don't recall that detail, 
but when I indicated that I would vol-
untarily appear, a member of my staff 
met with, I think, Chairman Hungate, 
and between them they tried to work 
out what was an acceptable agreeable 
time as to when I should appear. 

MAYNE: There was, of course, the 



concern which developed in the sub-
committee as to whether there would 
be any possible jeopardy to the im-
paneling of the jury in the Watergate 
cases. But I think this timetable should 
be established and I would ask the 
Chairman if that is not his recollection, 
that originally the President did say 
that he would be glad to appear on 
Oct. 1. 

HUNGATE: Not being under oath, the 
chair is glad to reply. The gentleman's 
recollection is the same as mine. 

MAYNE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I 
just think the point should be made 
that there has been no stalling at all, 
or delay, on the part of the President in 
making this appearance, but that he 
was not only willing to make the state-
ment but to do it much earlier. 

HUNGATE: If the gentleman would 
yield briefly. 

MAYNE: I'm happy to yield 
HUNGATE: That is precisely the fact. 

And it was consideration on behalf of 
many of us concerning the proper effect 
on any trials that held us till this day. 

MAYNE: Now, Mr. President, I think 
there was perhaps one part of Mr. Kas-
tenmeier's questioning of you that was 
left unanswered, and I'm going to try to 

. go into that again. Did you by granting 
this pardon have any intention of stop-
ping the investigations of any other de-
fendants or potential defendants? 

PRESIDENT: None whatsoever. 
MAYNE: Now, Mr. President, ever 

since I first heard of the Watergate 
break-in I have felt that this was a mat-
ter which should be fully investigated 
and prosecuted, and that anyone found 
to be criminally involved should be 
punished as provided by the law. And 
I've repeatedly stated I thought our 
American system of justice as adminis-
tered in the courts was fully capable of 
handling the situation if permitted to 
proceed without interference. 

I've been apprehensive that the activ-
ities of some of the legislative commit-
tees and the large amount of publicity 
attending upon these activities might 
make it impossible for our court system 
to function as it should. And I've also 
been fearful that the executive branch 
would intervene to limit or handicap the 
normal functioning of the courts. 

Now Mr. President, I must say to you 
that I am deeply concerned that both 
the legislative and executive branches 
have indeed interfered with our courts, 
making it extremely difficult for the 
traditional American system of justice 
to proceed in the regular manner in 
this case, And I was very disturbed by 

the granting of this pardon, particularly 
at such an early stage, even though 
certainly there is no question that under 
the law you had the right to act as you 
did. , 

Now I realize that hindsight is al-
ways better than foresight, but I'm 
wondering if after all that has hap-
pened and with further opportunity for 
reflection if you do not now feel that 
you perhaps acted too hastily in this 
case. 

PRESIDENT: .Mr., Mayne, I have 
thought about that a great deal, be-
cause there has been criticism of the 
timing. But as I reviewed my thoughts 
prior to the granting of the pardon, 
I had to look at this factual situation. 
If I granted the pardon when I did, it 
would as quickly as possible achieve 
the results that I wanted, which was to 
permit our Government, both the Con-
gress and the President, to proceed to 
the solution of the problem. 

Now, some people say in their criti-
cism—and I understand it, and I'm not 
critical of the points they raise—I 
should have"waited until Mr. Nixon was 
indicted, inferring that I should have 
then pardoned him if I was going to 
do so. 

Well, other people say that I should 
have waited until he was convicted, if  

lie was convicted, and at that •time 
should have pardoned him. 

Others have indicated that I should 
have waited for a conviction and a jail 
sentence, if that were the result. 

Now, all of that process, whether 
it's the indictment, the possible convic- 
tion, a conviction plus a jail sentence, 
would have taken, as I've tried to ex-
plain, at least a year and probably much 
longer. And during that whole period 
of time, Mr. Mayne, all of the things 
that I wanted to avoid, namely, the 
opportunity for our Government, the 
President and the Congress and others, 
to get to the problems we have, would 
have been, I think, deeply upset and roadblocked. 

So I'm convinced, after reflection, as 
I was previously, that the timing of the 
pardon was done at the right time. 

MAYNE: Thank you, Mr. President. 
REPRESENTATIVE 	ELIZABETH 

HOLTZMAN,*DEMOCRAT OF NEW 
YORK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And, 
Mr. Ford, I, too, wish to applaud your 
historical appearance here today. 

At the present time, however, I wish 
to express my dismay that the format 
of this hearing will not be able to pro-
vide to the American public the full 
truth and all the facts respecting your . 
issuance of a pardon to Richard Nixon. 

Unfortunately, each member of this 
committee will have only five minutes 
in which to ask questions about this 
most serious matter; and unfortunately, 
despite my urging of the committee to 
try and provide sufficient time for each 
committee member to ask the 'questions 
that were appropriate, the committee 
to prepare fully for your coming by 
calling other witnesses such as Alex-
ander Haig, Mr. Buchan, Mr. Becker, 
and has failed to insist also on full 
production of documents by you re-
specting the issuance of this pardon. 

And I must confess my awn lack of 
easiness at participating in a proceed-
ing that has raised such high expecta-
tions, and I unfortunately will not be 
able to respond to them. 

I would like to point out, Mr. Presi-
dent, that the resolutions of inquiry 
which have prompted your appearance 
here today have resulted from very 
dark suspicions that have been created 
in the public's mind. 

Perhaps ;these suspicions are totally 
unfounded, and I sincerely hope that 
they are. But, nonetheless, we must all 
confront the reality of these suspicions, 
and the suspicions that were created by 
the circumstances of the pardon which 
you issued, the secrecy with which it 
was issued, and the reasons for which 
it was issued, which made people ques-
tion whether or not in fact there was a 
deal. 

PRESIDENT: May I comment there? 
I want to assure you, the members of 
this subcommittee, members of the 
Congress and the American people 
there was no deal, period, under no cir-
cumstances. 

HOLTZMAN: Well, Mr. President, I 
appreciate that statement and I'm sure 
many of the American people do as 
well. But they also are asking questions 
about the pardon, and I'd like to specify 
a few of them for you so that perhaps 
we can have some of these answered. 

I think from the mail I've received 
from all over the country as well as my 
own district, I know that the people 
want to understand how you can ex-
plain having pardoned Richard Nixon 
without specifying any of the crimes 
for which he was pardoned? And how 
can you explain pardoning Richard 
Nixon without obtaining any acknowl-
edgement 

 
 of guilt from him. 

Haw do you explain the failure to 
consult the Attorney General of the 
United States with respect to the issu-
ance of the pardon, even though in 
your confirmation hearings you had 
indicated that the Attorney General's 
opinion would be critical in any decision 
to pardon the former President? 

How can the extraordinary haste in  

which the pardon was decided on, and 
the secrecy with which it was carried 
out, be explained? 

And how can you explain the fact 
that the pardon of Richard Nixon was 
accompanied by an agreement with re-
spect to the tapes which in essence, in 
the public mind, hampered the special 
prosecutor's access to these materials—
and was done, also in the public's mind, 
in disregard of the public's right to 
know the full story about Richard Nix-
on's misconduct in office? 

And in addition, the public, I think, 
wants an explanation of how Benton 
Becker was used to represent the inter-
ests of the United States in negotiating 
the tapes agreement when at that very 
time he was under investigation by the 
United States for possible criminal 
charges. 

And how, also, can you explain not 
having consulted Leon Jaworski, the 
special prosecutor, before approVing the 
tapes agreement? 

And I think, Mr. President, that these 
are only a few of the questions that have 
existed in the public's mind before, and, ' 
unfortunately, still remain not resolved. 

And since I have a very brief time, I 
would like to ask you in addition to 
these questions one further one. And 
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that is, that suspicions have been raised 
that the reason for the pardon and the 
simultaneous tapes agreement was • to 
ensure that the tape-recording ?between 
yourself and Richard Nixon never came 
out in public. ( recordings I – AP) To alleviate this suspicion once anti 
for all, would you be willing, to turn 
over to this subcommittee all tape-
recordings of conversation between your-
and Richard Nixon? 

PRESIDENT: Those tapes, under an 
opinion of the Attorney General, which 
I sought, according to the Attorney Gen-
eral—and I might add, according-to past 
precedent—belong to President Nixon. 

Those tapes are in our control. They 
are under an agreement which protects 
them totally, fully, for the special prose-
cutor's office or for any criminal pro-
ceeding. Those tapes will not be deliv-
ered to anybody until a satisfactory 
agreement is reached with the special 
prosecutor's office. 

We have held them because his office 
did request that. And as long as we have 
them held in our possession for the spe-
cial prosecutor's benefit, I see no way 
whatsover that they can be destroyed,, 
that they can be kept from proper 
zation in criminal proceedings. 

Now these tapes belong to Mr. Nixon, 
according to the Attorney General; but 
they're being held for the benefit of the 
special prosecutor. And I think that's 
the proper place for them to be kept. 

HUNGATE: The gentleman from Mary-
land, Mr. Hogan. 

REPRESENTATIVE LAWRENCE J. 
HOGAN, REPUBLICAN OF MARY-
LAND: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I'm 
frankly amazed at my good friend, 
the gentlelady frm New York in 
her accusatory opening speech, be-
cause certainly the gentlelady knows 
that it is the usual and ordinary 
and routine procedure of this subcom-
mittee and this committee to operate 
under the five-minute rule. There is 
nothing extraordinary about us today 
allocating five minutes of time for ques-
tioning to each member of the commit-
tee. We always operate this way. Her 
other observation about not doing any 
preparatory work by calling other wit-
nesses, was rejicted, as far as I recall, 
by all other members of the subcommit-
tee on the •basis that this resolution of 
inquiry is directed to the President of 
the United States, and properly so. So it 
would be totally inappropriate for the 
resolution of inquiry to address itself to 
individuals other than the subject of 



that resolution of inquiry. 
Mr. President, I would like to join, 

too, in commending you for the state- 
ment and your openness and candor in 
coming in this very historic event. 

And frankly I'm concerned that some 
of the questioning by my colleagues, 
asking •questions —"if all men aren't 
equal tinder the law"—because, certain- 
ly, being the outstanding 'lawyers that 
they am they know that the pardoning 
power itself is inherently inequitable. 

But for a larger purpose it grants to 
the chief executive of the Federal Gov- 
ernment or the state in the case of state 
crimes to pardon individuals who may 
or have been indicted or convicted of 
crimes. So we should not expect this 
to apply as if there were a trial of these 
criminal offenses and furthermore we 
also know that in our system of criminal 
justice even the prosecutors themselves 
exercise prosecutor discretion. 

There is no question whatsoever that 
the Constitution gives to the President 
of the United States broad and absolute 
power to pardon individuals of criminal 
offenses. 

We also know from the debates of the 
framers of the Constitution that they 
specifically rejected including in the 
Constitution the words "after convic- 
tion." They also in their debate at that 
time indicated situations where it might 
be necessary or desirable to grant a par- 
don even before indictment, as was the 
case in this instance. 

Now Mr. President, I know that you 
followed very carefully the deliberations 
of this committee during the impeach- 
ment inquiry. And I know you're aiso 
aware that this committee unanimously 
concluded that the President was guilty 
of an impeachable offense growing out 
of obstruction of justice. So in a sense 
couldn't we not say that this was at 
least the basis for a possible criminal 
charge which was already spread on the 
record with ample evidence to justify it? 

So those who say you should have 
waited until there were formalized 
charges, really are 'overlooking the fact 
that there was a very formalized charge 
and indictment, if you will, by this 
committee. 

PRESIDENT: Well, the unanimous 
vote of the House Committee on the 
Judiciary—all 35$ members—certainly 
is very substantial evidence that the 
former President was guilty of an im- 
peachable offense. 

There's no doubt in 'my mind that 
that recommendation of this full com- 
mittee would have carried in the House, 
which would have been even more for- 
mal as an indication of criminal activ- 
ity or certainly, to be more specific, an 
impeachable offense. 

And of course, the prospect in the 
Senate with such a formidable vote in 
the committee and in the House would 
have been even more persuasive. 

HOGAN: Mr. President, referring to 
the memorandum from Mr. Ruth to Mr. ""'/....1  xP eS o  c 
Jaworski, enumerating the 10 possible 	c a 	) 
criminal offenses, it's true that this 
committee addressed itself, if I'm not 
mistaken, to every single one of these 
charges and assessed evidence as to 
each one of them, and we found them 
wanting, that they were not sufficient 
justification for an impeachable of-
fense. And the last paragraph of that 
memorandum says, and I quote, none 
of these matters at the moment rises 
to the level of our ability to prove 
even a probably criminal violation by 
Mr. Nixon. 

Now this memorandum does not in-
clude the obstruction of justice, which I 
addressed myself to earlier. So I think 
we can logically assume that there would 
not have been any indictments resulting 
from Mr. Jaworski's activities other than 
in the area of obstruction of justice and 
with further corroboration of that point 
I allude to a story in The Wall Street 
Journal yesterday where Mr. Jaworski, 
who incidentally not only agrees with 
your pardon, but also the legality and 
the timeliness of it, and he says very 
specifically that there was going to be 
no additional disclosures resulting from  

his activities that the public was not al-
ready aware of relating to Mr. Nixon. 

So those who are saying we should 
wait until there's a formal charge I 
think are missing the point that there'  
already has been a formal charge ap-
proved by this committee. 

Now Mr. President, don't you feel that 
the very acceptance of the pardon by the 
former President is tantamount to an ad-
mission of guilt on his part? 

PRESIDENT: I do, sir. 
HOGAN: So those who say again that 

they would have preferred that the Pres-
ident admit-his culpability before a par-
doe being issued again are overlooking 
that fact.' 
'':PRESIDENT: The acceptance of a par-

don, according to the legal authorities, 
and we've checked them out very care-
fully, does indicate that by the accept-
ance the person who has accepted it 
does, in effect, admit guilt. 

HOGAN: Thank you, Mr. President, 
and again I'd like to express my per- 
sonal appreciation for your candor and ,  
your openness and your cooperation with 
the co-equal branch. 

PRESIDENT: Thank you very much. 
HUNGATE: Mr. President, as you can 

see, the peculiar strength of this sub-
committee lies in the fact that the sub-
committee members bring so much 
knowledge to it and the subcommittee 
chairman takes a little away. And. I 
noticed in your Page 10 of your-state-
ment that when you were first hit with 
the possibility of this responsibility you 
indicated you wanted to talk to your 
wife before making decisions. Mr. Presi-
dent, did you do that? 

PRESIDENT: I certainly did, Mr. 
Chairman, because the probability or 
possibility of my becoming President 
obviously would have had a significant 
impact on her life as well as our life. 

HUNGATE: That restores my feelings 
that if you'd talked to her you'd have 
waited until indictment or Christmas 
Eve. 

Let me ask if any attempt was made 
to you while you were a Representative 
to contact the Federal pardon attorney 
as to his opinion as to customary proce-
dures followed in issuing a pardon? 

PRESIDENT: I did not, sir. 
HUNGATE: Now Mr. President, I go 

to page 20 of the statement and I'm ad-
dressing myself to the health question. 

HUNGATE: In the first responses pro-
vided, the press releases—Page 3 refers 
to Sept. 16, now, as the date of this 
press conference after the pardon de-
cision in which you are quoted: "I have 
asked Dr. Lukash, who is the head 
physician in the White House, to keep 
me posted in proper channels as to the 
former President's health. I have been 
informed on a routine day to day basis 
but I don't think I'm at liberty to give 
information." 

And my question is, Mr. President, 
had he reported prior to the pardon date 
or only after? 

PRESIDENT: Dr. Lukash gave me no 
information concerning President Nix-
on's health prior to the time that I 
issued the pardon. 

He did, at my request, when I heard 
rumors about the former President's 
health, keep me posted in proper chan-
nels. But that all occurred after the 
pardon took place. 

DENNIS: Mr. Chairman, I would just 
like to request that we make a part of 
the record the text of the opinion of 
the United States Supreme Court in ex 
parti Garland for Wallace 333, and also 
the opinion of the United States Su-
preme Court in verdict against the 
United States 236US79, which deals 
with the point that a pardon must be 
adcepted. 

HUNGATE: Without objection, it will 
be made part of the record. 

DENNIS. And, Mr. Chairman, I would 
also like to make a part of the record, 
if I may, the article referred to by my 
colleague, Mr. Hogan, which appeared 
in The Wall Street Journal of Oct. 16,.  

1974, and is headed: "The Pardon or 
Nixon Was Timely, Legal Jaworski Be-
lieves." 

HUNGATE: Without objection, it is 
so ordered. 

PRESIDENT: Mr. Chairman, may I 
add to something I said just to make it 
correct? 

HUNGATE: Yes, sir. 
PRESIDENT: Somebody asked about 

when I last saw the President. I said 
that I had seen him on the 9th. I did, 
as he departed.. But I had also seen 
the President the morning of the 8th 
at the time I was asked to come and 
see him. And at that time we spent an 
hour and 20 minutes together, or there-
abouts, when he told me that he was 
going to resign. So I saw him both the 
8th and the 9th, just to make the record 
accurate. 

DENNIS: I yield to the gentleman 
from Wisconsin for a question. 

KASTENMEIER: Mr. Chairman, I 
would like to, for the record, indicate 
that the statement of the gentleman 
from Maryland, Mr. Hogan, to the effect 
that the proposal, that this subcommit-
tee try to contact certain staff members 
such as General Haig and others, was 
supported by me. I think it would have 
been excellent. 

We have in the past done very well 
in terms of staff work preliminary to 
hearings that might have helped put 
some of the questions Miss Holtzman 
has to rest. 

Mr. President, you indicated that, as 
far as Mr.. Haig was concerned, that 
he had suggested certain options to you 
but did not in fact make a recommenda-
tion to you with respect to ,a pardon. 
Is that correct? 

PRESIDENT:. That is correct. I an-
swered, that, I think, as fully as I can 
in my.prepared statement. He discussed 
the options, he made no recommenda-
tions. 

KASTENMEIER: Which other persons, 
to you personally, made recommenda-
tions that the former President be par-
doned from that time in early August 
to the day of Sept. 6, when you made 
your decision. 

PRESIDENT: No other person to my 
knowledge made any recommendation 
to me from that time until the time 
that I made a decision about Sept. 6. 
Nobody made any recommendation to 
me for the pardon of the former Presi-
dent. 

KASTENMEIER: With respect to dis-
cussions between General Haig and Mr. 
Nixon, or other matters in question too, 
you indicated you had no personal 
knowledge, both in writing and, I 
think, in your statement today. I take 
it you would have no objection if the 
subcommittee sought to question Mr. 
Haig or others on the subject before us 
this morning to supplement this hearing 
and this inquiry? 

PRESIDENT: I don't think that's 
within my prerogative. I have come 
here to testify as to the specific facts 
as I know them, but the subcommittee 
does is a judgment for the subcommit-
tee and not me. 

HUNGATE: The chair is advised that 
the House is in recess, waiting for the 
conclusion of this hearing before re-
convening. So, if I might, I would yield 
to Mr. Hogan for a question at this 
point, and then to Miss Holtzman for a 
question. And we will then conclude. 
Mr. Hogan. 

HOGAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. President, on Page 20 of your state-
ment you talk about the health issue 
and that you had not gotten any official 
reports from physicians about — that 
were controlling in your decision. 

You state that observations were re-
ported to you from others. Now there 
have been press reports that Dr. Kis-
singer is alleged to have said to you that 
he feared that former President Nixon 
would commit suicide. That appeared in 



several news accounts. 
Is there any truth to that? 

PRESIDENT: There's no truth to it 
whatsoever. As far as I know. 

HOGAN: Well, it appeared in The 
New York Times, The Washington Post 
on two occasions, and is alluded to in a 
research paper prepared for the sub-
committee. 

PRESIDENT: There was no discussion 
between Dr. Kissinger and myself that 
included -any such comment. 

HOGAN: I think, if I might add a 
gratuitous comment, Mr. Chairman, that 
much of the controversy has been gen-
erated by the press, by just such erro-
neous statements that have been given 
wide circulation. Thank you, Mr. Presi-
dent. 

HUNGATE: I'll ask for one concise 
question, because we want to respect 
the time. 

EDWARDS: Mr. President, what 
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were the precise instructions given to 
Benton Becker by you when he went 
to San Clemente to negotiate the—
Mr. Nixon's acceptance—of the par-
don? 

PRESIDENT: The precise instruc-
tions given to Mr. Becker were ac-
tually given by my counsel, Mr. Bu-
chan. In general I knew what they 
were. They were instructions to nego-
tiate the protection of those documents 
—including the tapes—for the benefit 
of the special prosecutor in whatever 
use he felt was essential. And at the 
same time to keep them inviolate dur-
ing a period of time which we felt was 
a proper one. 

EDWARDS: But not to offer to par-
don unless that agreement had been 0: 

PRESIDENT: Mr. Edwards, these ne-
gotiations as to the custody or own-
ership of the documents, including 
tape, were undertaken prior to Aug. 
27, because we were more or less be-
sieged—when I say "we," the White 
House—as to what to do with those 
documents, including tapes. And that 
negotiation had no relevance whatso-
ever to the decision on my part to par-
don the President. 

EDWARDS: Thank you, Mr. Presi-
dent. 

HUNGATE: The Chair would remind 
all of the constraints of time, and call 
on Miss Holtzman for one ftal question. 

HOLTZMAN: Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man. Mr. Ford, you stated that the the-
ory on which you pardoned Richard 
Nixon was that he had suffered enough. 
And I'm interested in that theory, be-
cause the logical consequence of that 
is that somebody who resigns in the 
face of virtually certain impeachment or 
somebody who is impeached, should not 
be punished because the impeachment 
or the resignation in face of impeach-
ment is punishment enough. 

And I wondered whether anybody had 
brought to your attention the fact that 
the Constitution specifically states that 
even though somebody is impeached, 
that person shall, nonetheless, be liable 
to punishment according to law? 

PRESIDENT: Mrs. Holtzman, I was 
fully cognizant of the fact that the Presi- 
dent on resignation was accountable for 
any criminal charges. But I would like 
to say that the reason I gave the pardon 
was not as to Mr. Nixon himself. I re- 
peat—and I repeat with emphasis—the 
purpose of the pardon was to try and get 
the United States, the Congress, the 
President and the American people fo-
cusing on the serious problems we have 
both at home and abroad. 

And I was absolutely convinced then 
—as I am now—that if we had had this ,  

series—an indictment, a trial, cony : 
ton, and anything else that transpired ( 
after that—that the attention of tile 
President, the Congress and the Ameri-
can people would have been diverted 
from the problems that we have to solve. 

And that was the principal reason for 
my granting of the pardon. 

SMITH: Mr. Chairman, just before we 
adjourn this hearing I again would like 
to commend the President and thank 
him for coming. I think, Mr. President, 
that you have probably opened a new 
era between the executive and the leg-
islative departments, and I am very 
happy for it. 

PRESIDENT: Mr. Chairman, I want to 
express to you and to the other mem-
bers of the committee, the subcommit-
tee, my appreciation for' the fine manner 
—and I think the fair way—in which 
this meeting was held this morning. 

I felt that it was absolutely essential, 
because I'm the only one who could ex-
plain the background and the decision-
making process- And I hope, as I said in 
my opening statement, Mr. Chairman, 
that I have at least cleared the air so 
that mat Americans will understand 
what was done and why it was done. 
And, again, I trust that all of us can 
get back to the job of trying to solve 
our problems both at home and abroad-
I thank you very, very, much. 

HUNGATE: Mr. President, on behalf of 
the subcommittee, we express our appre-
ciation for your appearance here today, 
and recognition of the responsibility we 
all have to complete this work and get 
on with the business. 

The transcript will be furnished as 
quickly as possible to members of the 
subcommittee. The subcommittee will 
adjourn subject to the call of the chair. 


